You can view the agenda on the website
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code
To:

The Chair and Members of the Corporate
Infrastructure and Regulatory Services
Scrutiny Committee

Date: 7 September 2022

County Hall
Topsham Road
Exeter
Devon
EX2 4QD

Contact: Gerry Rufolo 01392 382299
Email: gerry.rufolo@devon.gov.uk

CORPORATE INFRASTRUCTURE AND REGULATORY SERVICES SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
Thursday, 15th September, 2022
A meeting of the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee
is to be held on the above date at 10.30 am at Council Chamber, County Hall to
consider the following matters.
Jan Spicer
Interim Chief Executive
AGENDA
PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE
1

Apologies

2

Minutes
Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2022 (previously circulated).

3

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as
matters of urgency.

4

Public Participation

Members of the public may make representations/presentations on any
substantive matter listed in the published agenda for this meeting, as set out
hereunder, relating to a specific matter or an examination of services or facilities
provided or to be provided.
MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION OR REVIEW
5

Covid Update
Public Health to report

6

Scrutiny Work Programme
In accordance with previous practice, Scrutiny Committees are requested to
review the list of forthcoming business and determine which items are to be
included in the Work Programme.
The Committee may also wish to review the content of the Cabinet Forward Plan
and the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Risk Register to see if
there are any specific items therein it might wish to explore further.

7

Reference from the East Devon Highways and Traffic Orders Committee
On 22 July 2022 a reference was made to CIRS under Minute*31 Local Waiting
Restriction Programme as follows:
“(c) that the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Committee be
asked to look at the county-wide problem of the parking of motor caravans in
towns and residential areas.”

8

Highways Performance Dashboard - Summer 2022 (Pages 1 - 10)
Report of the Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport
(CET/22/47), attached.

9

Moving Traffic Offences Spotlight Review (Pages 11 - 32)
Report of the Spotlight Review, attached

10

Climate Change Standing Overview Group of 6 July 2022 (Pages 33 - 36)
Report of the Standing Overview Group held on 6 July 2022, attached

11

Commission Liaison Members
Commissioning Liaison Members to update on:
•
Advertising on the highway
•
Pay and Display roll out

12

Customer Feedback Q1 2022-23 (April to June 2022) (Pages 37 - 48)
Report of the Head of Digital Transformation and Business Support, attached

MATTERS FOR INFORMATION
13

Items Previously Circulated
Below is a list of information previously circulated to Members since the last
meeting, relating to topical developments which have been or are currently being
considered by this Scrutiny Committee:
Nil

PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PRESS AND
PUBLIC ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT INFORMATION MAY BE
DISCLOSED
Nil
Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should
therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.

MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor
parking at County Hall and bus routes.
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information
see the Travel Devon webpages.
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504
beforehand.
Membership of a Committee
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.
Committee Terms of Reference
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee,
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.
Access to Information
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website
Public Participation
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting.
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice.
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so,
as directed by the Chair. Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed.
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic
Services Officer in attendance.
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking
place on that item.
WiFI
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall.
Fire
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest
available exit following the fire exit signs. If doors fail to unlock press the Green
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park
behind Bellair.
First Aid
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.
Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council
Chamber
Alternative Formats

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall,
Exeter, EX2 4QD.
Induction Loop available

Agenda Item 8
CET/22/47
Corporate, Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee
15 September 2022

Highways Performance Dashboard – Summer 2022
Report of the Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport
1.

Introduction

In response to the recommendations of the Planned & Reactive Maintenance:
Potholes & Drainage Task Group presented to the Corporate, Infrastructure and
Regulatory Services (CIRS) Scrutiny Committee in March 2019 an updated
Performance Dashboard Report has been produced. The intention of this report is to
provide Members with an overview of the performance of the Highways and Traffic
Management Team over the summer period.
2.

Reactive Works

2.1

Public Reports

Since the triage process began circa 90,000 reports have been assessed – 53.5%
have resulted in no further action, with the main reasons being duplicate or nonactionable (non-safety defect) reports. So far, this financial year just under 7,000
reports have been assessed with almost 60% being closed as no further action.
Historically all of these reports would have automatically been passed to our
contractor for repair, with many resulting in unnecessary visits and the associated
impacts on cost, disruption and carbon associated with this.

More recently our contractor’s inspection workforce have all been upskilled so that
they’re able to assess public reports as well as undertake formal, routine safety
inspections interchangeably – adding extra resilience and driving efficiency,
especially important during the busy, colder periods.
Further work is now being undertaken looking at the other types of public reports
received e.g. overgrown vegetation, ensuring that these are being managed as
efficiently and collaboratively as possible, aligning to approaches that have already
been successfully adopted elsewhere.

Page 1

Agenda Item 8
2.2

Safety Defects

The close of 2021/22 financial year saw a decrease in total pothole defects recorded
for the year when compared to 2020/21. This trend has continued this year when
compared to the same months last year. The number of recorded pothole defects
can be seen in Appendix 1. These reductions are being attributed to ongoing focus
on serviceability works, including the triage patching and dragon patching initiatives.
Our four dragon patchers have completed 54 sites this financial year and have a
further 175 sites committed for the remainder of the year.
We have also seen significant increases in the amount of ‘first time fixes’ by defect
gangs thanks to the work undertaken in the ‘Doing What Matters’ process, whereby
inspectors are able to provide more detailed information at point of assessment, prior
to works being passed and scheduled for repair. This has been coupled with
increased quality audits that is helping to improve the workmanship across the
gangs.
2.3

Extreme Weather in July

The Network Operations team proactively managed the July severe weather event
for excessive heat. Prior to the Met Office declaring an amber weather warning, the
team provided an early warning to Devon’s communities and visitors on social
media, local radio and our variable message signs. We also took part in the Local
Resilience Forum pre-event conferences and assisted the Emergency Planning
teams in the Stranded Motorists Framework. Working closely with Milestone we retasked some of our gritting fleet to carry out dusting operations to avoid melting
roads and liaised with our surface dressing contractors to carry out a proactive
dusting programme on our newly resurfaced roads and most vulnerable parts of the
network. Although road surface temperatures reached over 50 degrees across the
county (hottest recorded temp was 57.1 degrees) the network faired extremely well
and our road users were kept moving throughout.
At the time of writing (early August), a second amber warning for extreme heat is in
place and we are once again well prepared.
3.

Cyclical Operations

3.1

Gully Cleaning

Waste bays in South Molton have received full approval and are now licenced and
being used to minimise waste costs and manage tipping volumes within the gully
cleaning operations. Savings in the region of £50k had been achieved by the end of
July. The bays will also have a significant impact on the carbon impact of the service
by significantly reducing the mileage undertaken to tip waste.
The drainage referral process is working well, operatives and officers are able to log
assets that are defective. Gangs then follow up to address the issues. This helps
maintain the gully cleaning programme and improves efficiency. Since April the
following work has been carried out.
3249 Jetting requests have been resolved

Page 2

Agenda Item 8
214 seized covers released
305 covers replaced
28 CCTV drainage surveys identifying various defects.
The progress of the gully cleaning service can be seen in Appendix 2.
3.2

Grips, Easements and Buddleholes

Asset location data is now being added to the public viewing portal.
Levels of plant are being regularly reviewed on the cyclic cleaning operation to
ensure efficiency of the operation is maximised to achieve the policy of cleaning
each asset annually, whilst minimising costs to deliver the programme.
The progress of the grips, easements and buddlehole cleaning service can be seen
in Appendix 2.
4.

Tree Safety Management (including vegetation)

The programme of expert tree inspections on our principal road network is on track
with six districts completed. Torridge and North Devon are due to be completed by
end of September.
At this point 224 tree defects have been recorded, 49 fewer than at the same point in
2021. The number of individual trees with ADB (ash die back) is almost identical at
this point to last year at 221.
Potentially hazardous trees are also reported via highway safety inspections (HSIs).
In the first 4 months of the 2021/22 financial year 114 tree defects were identified
during HSIs. For the same 4 months of 2022/23, that figure is 242, a little more than
double. Almost exactly 50% of those defects identified last year related to Ash
Dieback. Although exact figures aren’t available for this year yet, it is roughly
estimated that about 65% of this year’s records relate to ADB.
Although we are not seeing any noticeable reduction in the number of reported ADB
infected trees compared to this time last year the comprehensive and extensive
surgery work on our main road network, including the North Devon Link Road (NDL)
and A380, over the past 2 years has given us some confidence that those routes are
at less risk of incursion from falling ash. It is far too early to be certain where we are
with the rate of spread of the disease in Devon, however, mainland Europe has been
living with ADB long before it arrived on to British shores and expert opinion
suggests that based upon historical progression Devon is likely to be living with the
disease at its current level for the next 5-10 years. Even beyond this date the
disease will remain a potential threat to our ash tree stock in the same way as Dutch
Elm disease is to our elm stock to this day.
Noting the significant carbon sequestration and storage, ecological and social
wellbeing benefits achieved by our tree assets we are moving forward in better
understanding the real number of highway trees we manage across Devon’s road
network. Previously overall highway tree stock numbers in Devon have been based
upon an estimate of the number of trees within a sample area, however, we have

Page 3

Agenda Item 8
secured recent access to new satellite-based data which provides us with both the
number of trees within the boundaries of the highway and any other trees on private
land which have the potential of falling on to the highway. The data has the benefit of
being refreshed over a 3 year cycle, whilst also having the potential to identify tree
location, height and canopy size which will greatly enhance our understanding on the
asset we are maintaining.
This is a significant step forward in improving the efficiency in managing our tree
stock and will enhance the authority’s ability to develop a longer-term strategy in
managing this essential and most precious asset. Knowing more precisely what we
have will improve our resilience should the service need to respond to any pathogen
infections which may threaten the asset in the future.
The team have been trialling alternative methods of working to deal with overgrown
vegetation issues on a test and learn basis for approximately 12 months, including
utilising qualified arboricultural contractors to inspect reported sites and provide
advice to residents and the use of a ‘find, inform, fix’ approach to pragmatically deal
with overgrowth issues. What has been learnt will now be reviewed and where good
outcomes are noted, will be taken forward into a redesigned process.
5.

Preparations for Winter Service

As one winter ended the preparations for next winter began. This started with a
review of lessons learnt from both Milestone and DCC staff. Although last winter was
generally mild, we did experience some very challenging weather including back to
back named storms bringing extreme winds and low road surface temperatures on
the same day.
During winter we also started a trial in Exeter to pre-salt key cycleways and
footways. This trial is in the early stages but proved a positive step towards carbon
reduction and active travel which was well supported by stakeholders. It is hoped the
trial can continue this winter.
The round of summer maintenance on the gritters is nearing completion and to assist
with reliability, our contractor will now be running each vehicle fortnightly throughout
the year.
Devon County Council continues to maintain representatives on the National Winter
Service Research Group (NWSRG), enabling us to benchmark and influence on a
national stage.
6.

Customer Engagement Project

The Highways Service have been working with the Digital Transformation Team and
have identified a number of opportunities, in both our ‘Report a Problem’ and
licences and applications, to improve the customer journey and experience and
replace our old database systems with modern, robust, and supported workflow
management systems.
Work has started to design and implement a scalable solution incorporating dynamic
forms, digital workflows, DCC management of customer data and integration with

Page 4

Agenda Item 8
third party systems. The new toolset will also be used by members of the public to
apply for licences and could then be designed to also meet the needs for report a
problem. This will provide a consistent customer experience, across the service, and
also provide a workload management tool, for staff, to support the management of
several processes. This will enable more efficient working practices and help the
service understand and manage demand.
The scope of the project includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Improved website navigation
Implement website guided assistance
Submit an application / report a problem
Manage customers
Manage workflows
Manage inspections
Manage data & business intelligence.

To support the project a member of the team has been seconded from their
substantive post for a period of 12 months.
7.

Development of @DevonAlert

@DevonAlert continues to lead the way in the south west with regards to travel
updates, event notifications and emergency incident informing and proactive
warning. The Twitter account continues to go from strength to strength and now has
over 12,000 followers, with our numbers increasing week on week. On average our
tweets are viewed/retweeted 150,000 times per month (590,000K during Feb –
Storm Eunice). Our content is now supported by a library of branded images and
GIF’s and we have recently furthered our social media presence by joining
Facebook. Please help us to help Devon by following us on both platforms.
Equally, when appropriate we aim to use our Variable Message Signs (VMS) in
parallel to ensure consistent messaging.
8.

Road Wardens and Highway Management Community Enhancement
Fund

There are currently 89 Road Warden agreements with Parish and Town Councils.
Since April 2021:
• 14 volunteers have undertaken Signing, Lighting and Guarding training (Chapter
8)
• 9 volunteers have signed up to the online Highway Safety Awareness module
• 12 Parish and Town Councils have been supplied with pothole repair material for
use on their local roads.
There are currently 160 volunteers who have undertaken Signing, Lighting and
Guarding training, but their accreditation to work on the highway has expired or will
in the near future. We are contacting the local councils to confirm if they are still
active and to offer refresher training.

Page 5

Agenda Item 8
During 2021/22 financial year 25 bids for grant from the Highway Community
Enhancement Fund were approved totalling over £20,000, facilitating over £60,000
of work and projects.
Additional 2021/22 funding was available for public realm projects. 17 bids for grant
were approved totalling over £40,000, facilitating over £78,000 of work and projects.
9.

Delivery of the Capital Programme

Design and delivery for planned maintenance works continues to go very well,
especially as Devon Highways teams continue to work through changes and
opportunities afforded through an amendment to Term Maintenance Contract
payment mechanism.
The majority of schemes have been designed and programmed; however, it should
be noted that disruption out of the authority’s control such as winter, co-ordination
and budgetary issues may put the delivery of some of these schemes at risk.
Planning will however continue to ensure we manage these potential risks as
effectively as possible.
Schemes continue to be delivered through our Term Maintenance Contractor and
External Framework Contractors to ensure sustainability of delivery and value for
money.
Over the financial year approximately £9M is anticipated to be delivered on our
strategic A Roads, typically including resurfacing and associated drainage.
While two smaller schemes were delivered in April, the main programme of
resurfacing commenced in June, with an anticipated £3.4M to be delivered by the
end of August. Additional design work is being carried out on schemes to be
delivered from September, to ensure the most economical solution against a
background of continuing cost increases.
Approximately £13.5M of planned works are scheduled to be delivered through a
variety of treatments such as resurfacing, patching, drainage and footways outside of
the A roads which has been identified and prioritised through a mix of local
intelligence and holistic asset data. Delivery has progressed well, with a large
proportion of the works already delivered ensuring that the weather window before
winter is fully optimised. A few schemes remain in design with the remainder of the
schemes in program, with a high confidence of delivery this financial year.
Devon has continued to invest in preventative carriageway maintenance techniques
that not only offer whole life savings, but also significant carbon reductions when
compared to resurfacing. A little over £5M was invested in surface dressing and
delivered via the summer months to ensure effective embedment. This programme
has seen 161 sites successfully delivered which equates to approximately 1.1million
m2. This included 22 ‘lock chip’ sites which is an enhanced dressing process to
better cater for the urban environment.
Approximately £6.75M is scheduled to be delivered through short notice planned
works including minor hand and dragon patching. All of which are identified through

Page 6

Agenda Item 8
centrally managed inspections and delivered via a rolling program throughout the
year.
Finally, £1.7M is programmed to be spent maintaining the Public Right of Way and
cycle network, with works allocated and planned for delivery this financial year.
Meg Booth
Director of Climate Change, Environment and Transport
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Highway Management: Councillor Stuart Hughes
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for enquiries: Rob Richards
Room No. County Hall, Exeter. EX2 4QD
Tel No: (01392) 383000
Background Paper
Nil

Date

Highways Performance Dashboard - Final

Page 7

File Reference

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1 to CET/22/47
Number of potholes recorded across the Devon network per month/year

April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
January
February
March
Total

17/18 18/19
3,489 9,782
4,329 6,339
3,293 5,120
3,148 5,225
3,352 4,423
2,831 3,378
3,750 3,137
4,316 3,434
3,766 3,533
7,408 5,770
7,687 5,121
8,523 6,706
55,892 61,968

19/20
3,741
3,344
3,713
2,719
2,041
2,745
3,013
3,931
3,393
6,694
5,269
7,884
48,487

20/21
6,505
4,764
5,179
4,040
3,071
3,297
2,465
3,349
2,465
5,181
5,619
6,190
52,125

Page 8

21/22
3,904
4,248
5,743
4,301
3,845
2,874
2,545
2,697
2,723
3,494
2,972
4,915
44,261

22/23
2,980
3,493
2,948
2,758

13,116

Avg
5,484
4,605
4,610
3,887
3,346
3,025
2,982
3,545
3,176
5,709
5,334
6,844

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2 to CET/22/47
Gully Cleaning Programme
As of 7th August (35% through the financial year)
Total
Gullies
Gullies
Programmed Attended Cleaned
Honiton
Exeter
Rydon
South Hams
Okehampton
Merton
South Molton
Tiverton

24,456
30,460
22,402
16,434
18,571
12,716
20,283
7,380
152,702

8,060
10,578
10,442
7,718
8,644
5,282
7,514
5,180
63,418

7,036
10,170
8,942
6,358
8,409
4,708
6,592
6,516
58,731

Gullies
Left to
clean
17,420
20,290
13,460
10,076
10,162
8,008
13,691
864
93,971

%
Complete
29%
33%
40%
39%
45%
37%
33%
88%
38%

Grips, Easements and Buddlehole Cleaning Programme
As of 7th August (35% through the financial year)

South
North
West
Torridge
East

To be
Cleaned

Cleaned

Left to
Attend

Programmed
(m)

Cleaned
(m)

%
Complete

12,018
14,132
15,480
25,541
40,733
107,904

4,340
5,667
7,996
6,793
15,164
39,960

7,678
8,465
7,484
18,748
25,569
67,944

47,814
38,728
62,910
82,502
72,715
304,669

22,643
15,211
25,826
38,189
33,438
135,308

36%
40%
52%
27%
37%
38%

Page 9

Agenda Item 9

Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services
Scrutiny Committee

Moving Traffic
Offenses Spotlight
Review

September 2022
Page 11

Agenda Item 9
1.

Recommendations
The spotlight review asks the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services and
Cabinet to endorse the recommendations below, with a report against progress of the
recommendations in 12 months time:

Action

Agency

Timeframe

1. Devon County Council (DCC) to apply to enforce Moving
Traffic Offenses (MTOs)

Cabinet
Member

Immediately

2. Devon County Council to be explicit in the communication
of the adoption of the MTO powers:
a. To include rationale based upon safety and movement
of traffic in congested areas
b. Regular communications on Social Media about the
roll out of the powers and areas that will be enforced as
well as updates on appeals upheld
c. A report to come to Committee one year after the
introduction of the powers for Councillors to review the
number of contraventions captured, and number of
appeals (including those upheld)

Cabinet
Member
supported by
Highways and
Communicatio
ns officers

When
adopted

3. DCC to implement the policy which includes:

Cabinet
Member to
agree policy

As policy is
developed

Highways
Officers

Within 6
months

5. DCC to further explore opportunities with the Police to link Highways
Council enforcement of MTOs with Operation SNAP
Officers
including supporting members of the public to report
offenses.

Within 6
months

a. Local Councillors to be made aware of any new MTO
enforcement in their constituency.
b. Only issue one Penalty Charge Notice per location,
per vehicle, per day.
c. New enforcement areas to be issued with warning
notices for six months for first time moving traffic
contraventions rather than penalty charges.
d. New Traffic management initiatives to include
information to the local community about how they
will be enforced.
e. Exploration of ways in which individuals who cannot
afford to pay, may do so over an extended period or
deferred payment.
f. That communication of enforcement of moving
traffic violations is explicit in the support available for
people who are vulnerable, in line with the existing
policy for parking debt, making it clear about how to
access support.
4. Devon County Council Highways Officers to explore work
with Town and Parish Councils with monitoring and
enforcement of MTOs, using existing cameras.

Page 12

Upon
beginning of
operation
One year
after
operation
begins

Agenda Item 9
6. Devon County Council to Lobby Devon MPs to make
amendments to the legislation/policy on MTOs to allow
Councils to offer education instead of a fine to motorists
who commit moving traffic offenses.

Cabinet
Member/
Scrutiny
Committee

Once agreed
by Cabinet

2. Introduction
2.1 In 2019 the Local Government Association asked upper tier local authorities about their
views on adopting moving traffic offenses. A year later the government pledged to
change the law within a 52-page document titled “Gear Change, A bold vision for cycling
and walking” (Department for Transport, 2020). This report predominately outlined the
national government’s proposed environmental improvements regarding transport and
linked the change to the Traffic Management Act to sustainable travel and air quality
improvements.
2.2 Three statutory instruments (SI) will bring the 2004 Act into force:
• ‘Traffic management Act of 2004’ (legislation.gov.uk, 2004).
• The ‘Civic Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Approved Devices, Charging
Guidelines and General Provisions)’ has outlined the forms of cameras and level of
fines that local authorities could hand out. (legislation.gov.uk, 2022).
• ‘Civic Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals)
include the information that fixed penalty notices are required to contain.
(legislation.gov.uk, 2022).
2.3 On the 21st of June 2022 a Statutory Instrument was laid before parliament that
detailed the local authorities that have applied to the secretary of state for them to
exercise the new powers.
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢

Bath and North-East Somerset Council
Bedford Borough Council
Buckinghamshire Council
Derby City Council
Durham County Council
Hampshire County Council
Kent County Council
Norfolk County Council
Oxfordshire County Council
Reading Borough Council
Surrey County Council

These powers are due to come in to force by 14th of July 2022. The full list of potential
powers is demonstrated in appendix
2.4 This Spotlight Review was established following the invitation from the Lead Officer and
the Cabinet Member for Scrutiny to provide a policy steer on whether adopting the
enforcement of Moving Traffic Offences was the right option for Devon County Council.

Page 13

1

Agenda Item 9
2.5 The Scope of the review was as follows:
‘Scrutiny Members to examine the evidence on Moving Traffic Offences on

the benefits and disbenefits of applying to become the enforcement
agency and make recommendations as to the policy direction that the
Council should take.’

2.6 The spotlight review asked questions about the Current picture in Devon from Devon
and Cornwall Police and DCC officers, what has been the experience and lessons learnt
from Transport for London and what considerations should be considering from
motorist organisations such as the AA.
2.7 The spotlight review took place on the 4th July in the afternoon online via Teams. This
report details the findings and the recommendations of the spotlight review.

3. Approach of other Local Authorities
3.1 In considering whether or not it is prudent to adopt the moving traffic offenses powers,
the spotlight review considered the approach that other local authorities were taking.
The Local Government Association (LGA) published a survey in July 2019 titled ‘Traffic
Management Act Part 6’ canvassing local authority views on adopting moving traffic
offenses. The digital survey was sent to officers responsible for traffic management
across 118 single and upper tier councils across the whole of England. Of the 118, 65
responded. The responses are summarised below:

Page 14

2

Agenda Item 9
3.2 Those who responded ‘yes’ were then asked based on the existing evidence of their local
roads, what the most common issues their local authority has related to their roads and
if they could be solved using the Traffic Management Act.
3.3 Out of those respondents who responded that they would be considering taking on
enforcement of MTOs, they listed the highest anticipated benefits, with more than 90%
or respondents saying safety and congestion, followed by 75% anticipating improved air
quality. Less than a fifth also anticipated less asset damage and better integration with
the strategic road network.

3.4 From those Local Authorities that responded ‘yes’ the majority anticipate using the
powers for box junction enforcement, goods vehicles exceeding maximum weight and
no right/left turns. Councils also anticipate using them for restricted pedestrian zones
and buses/cycles/taxi restricted areas.

Page 15

3

Agenda Item 9
3.5 Specifically in Norfolk, Kent and Hampshire authorities have already run consultations
with residents to start the process of adopting MTOs (Appendix 2).

4. Current situation in Devon
4.1 In Devon current Moving Traffic Offences are monitored and enforced by the Police and
specifically the Road Safety Team based at Crown Hill Police Station.
4.2 There are several approaches to safety enforcement that are in place in Devon:
➢ The current camera network around speed and red lights. There is an extensive
network, this has led to about 140,000 notice of intended prosecutions as a result of
speed or red light violations
➢ Officer Issued tickets these are traffic offence reports that are completed by officers
who witnessed offences
➢ Then there are dedicated operations including SNAP. SNAP is an online portal,
where members of the public can upload video footage of moving traffic offences
for a decision maker to look and to determine whether an offence has been
committed and whether a prosecution would be in the public interest. Over time
and the number of submissions has steadily risen each month. In May there were
510 submissions from members of the public and the police are prosecuting about
65 to 70% of those offences.
4.3 There is the potential crossover between what the local authority can adopt in terms of
its ability to monitor moving traffic offences and how Devon County Council can link
into operations SNAP on a wider basis.
4.4 The current camera systems and processes necessitate the involvement of a human
being in deciding whether an offence has been committed. Typically, the offence will be
recorded, uploaded and viewed by a member of staff who will decide if an offence has
been committed and, if so, whether to issue a PCN or offer an educational option
(similar to a speed awareness course). In Devon, there is a team of approximately 50
people who view the offences, manage enquiries from the public, prepare files to go to
court, and so on.
4.5 In 2021, the Police recorded 9,806 traffic offence reports. At the time of the Spotlight
Review (4th July 2022), 5,573 had been recorded for 2022. The Spotlight Review was
advised that there is likely to be a huge disparity in the amount of traffic offences by the
police versus the number of contraventions that actually occur and that the number is
likely to be significantly higher. Data does not exist on this, but previous operations by
Devon and Cornwall Police had revealed worrying trends, such as cannabis usage among
moped riders. In terms of addressing these problems, some work is being done in the
region to try and gain a fuller understanding of motorist behaviour – for example, in
Cornwall work is being undertaken alongside Biffa Waste Services to report
contraventions that take place in the presence of waste collection vehicles. A growing
number of speed detection hubs for specifically speed-related offences are also being
set up across Devon.

Page 16

4

Agenda Item 9
4.6 The table below demonstrates the collisions recorded across Devon in 2021.
Police recorded
collisions 2021

numbers

% Contributory factors: failing to
look or distraction inside/outside
vehicle

fatal

27

37%

Seriously injured

262

33%

Slightly injured

926

39%

4.7 As demonstrated, failing to look properly, or being distracted due to factors inside or
outside the vehicle contributed to 1/3 or more of collisions in Devon in 2021. In
particular, 37% of fatal collisions – namely, those relating in death – were partly or
wholly due to these contributing factors. These are the specific types of motorist
behaviour that enforcement of MTOs is supposed to discourage and prevent. This
reflects the serious nature of enforcing traffic contraventions and the potential to
reduce death and injury that would come with a better level of monitoring and
enforcement.

5. Lessons from other authorities already operating MTOs
Cardiff City Council
5.1 The Spotlight Review approached Cardiff City Council (the only Authority aside from
Traffic for London that enforces MTOs instead of the police) for comment.1 In their
response to the spotlight review, the Council outlined the initial stages before
enforcement can take place or before a camera is installed – namely, that the Authority
must review the signage and road layout to ensure clarity for motorists around banned
manoeuvres. If it is not clear, the signage should be updated and a review period to
follow. A camera would then follow if there remains a problem with motorists
contravening the rules.
5.2 They also advised that physical measures can be taken to prevent enforcement being
required. For instance (as pictured below), bollards to prevent a banned right turn mean
that enforcement via cameras and PCNs are not required as it is not physically possible
to perform the banned manoeuvre.

1

All information herein from Cardiff City Council refer to M Harrison, email communication.

Page 17

5

Agenda Item 9

5.3 In addition, Cardiff City Council also highlighted that accurate monitoring and
enforcement of some offences can be problematic. Banned turns and no entries tend to
be straightforward. However there can be greater difficulties correctly enforcing, yellow
box junctions where it is only a contravention to stop in a yellow box junction under
particular cirumstances. This view was echoed by the AA in particular, and is explored in
the next section of this report.
Traffic for London
5.4 David Barry, Contravention Identification Manager for Traffic for London (TfL) runs a
team of 108 staff responsible for the monitoring and enforcement of Moving Traffic
Offences on the TfL road network which, whilst only accounting for 5% of the total road
network of London, accounts for 30% of the overall traffic. He attended the spotlight
review and spoke to Members about the process in London and considerations for
Devon in their decision to adopt these powers.
5.5 Identification and validation of contraventions form the bulk of the staffing effort. TfL
also employ a small group of technical officers. Whilst the CCTV is monitored, most
contraventions on the TfL network are captured automatically by cameras. Driver
details are then obtained where possible from the DVLA and go through a manual
validation process by a member of TfL staff. A PCN will then be issued.
5.6 Where a new banned manoeuvre is introduced, PCNs are not issued for the first six
months. Instead, a warning notice would be issued to a motorist who contravenes the
rules for their first offence within this period. This does not apply if a banned
manoeuvre has existed for more than six months but has only recently started being
enforced – in this case, a PCN would be issued on the first recorded contravention.
5.7 Regarding potential costings of enforcement, the spotlight review heard that in order
for a fixed camera to pay for itself it must issue one or two PCNs per day. In the case of
TfL, these cameras cost £250,000 to install – this consists of £50,000 installation cost
plus sixty years of line rental. The cost is lower for deployable cameras, which Traffic for
London has more recently started using. These cost approximately £2,000 each, are
movable, and use the 4G network. Electricity cost is also nominal. This means that far
less initial investment is required, and the installation of a camera therefore faces fewer
financial barriers – and a camera can be moved where required if it is not capturing
enough contraventions to justify its placement.

Page 18

6

Agenda Item 9
5.8 Also on cost, Traffic for London issues approximately 600,000 PCNs in a year which
more than covers the cost of employing 108 staff in their department and the ongoing
network maintenance. Profits are then reinvested into TfL projects, bringing a
measurable benefit to the road network.
5.9 In terms of safety, the benefit of enforcing banned manoevures was difficult to say, but
there is anecdotal experience that where manoeuvres are not typically monitored or
enforced motorists can be clearly seen to be behaving dangerously. Monitoring and
enforcing these could be naturally assumed to reduce these behaviours and therefore
the risk of collisions and injuries.

6. Considerations
6.1 The spotlight review invited views from the AA and the RAC. A member of the AA’s
Public Affairs department responded and outlined in detail the concerns they had, as an
organisation, about Moving Traffic Offences and what Councils should consider when
taking on the enforcement of MTOs.2
6.2 The AA and RAC consensus is that Councils adopting the enforcement of MTOs offers
many positives, and that enforcing these contraventions forms an important part of
reducing congestion and ensuring the highest levels of safety on our roads. However,
their concerns focus both on improper, unjust and inconsistent enforcement of these
offences and the risk that enforcing MTOs becomes a way to make money rather than
improve motorist experience and safety. In its recommendations – namely that DCC is
explicit in its communications, transparent regarding information on the monitoring and
enforcement of MTOs, as well as on upheld appeals, and that the Authority explores
ways to assist payment for struggling individuals, as well as other recommendations –
the spotlight review has taken the concerns raised into account.
6.3 The spotlight review did not receive a response from the RAC. However, the RAC have
gone publicly on record with their concerns. RAC spokesman Simon Williams has raised
concerns that “some authorities may be over enthusiastic in using their new powers for
revenue raising reasons, to the detriment of drivers.” The importance of a commonsense approach and reviewing road layouts to ensure the rules are clear to all, were also
noted as important in ensuring the system works to reduce incidences of dangerous
driving and improve congestion.3

2
3

Bodset, L. All mentions of AA evidence refer to this email communication.
Allan, M (2021).

Page 19

7

Agenda Item 9

Written evidence from the AA
The AA appreciates the purpose of allowing councils outside London to enforce
moving traffic violations. In terms of increasing traffic efficiency and improving
road safety, they make sense.
However, there are three areas where we have concerns that may lead to
objections:
1) The experience in London where enforcement of moving traffic violations has
on occasions been shoddy, unjust and ignorant of the rules. Evidence of this
comes from London Tribunals adjudication reports.
2) The system of appeals in the UK is almost completely individualised. It means
that flaws in enforcement may be known only to the council, the adjudicators
and successful appellants. That means there is very little pressure on enforcers to
rectify problems, sometimes leading to PCNs and fines being issued even when
those flaws are known.
3) Following on from the second point, Devon is a tourist destination and attracts
large numbers of visitors each year. Although the AA recognises that the
irresponsible behaviour of some visitors may be a nuisance and sometimes
dangerous, flaws such as poor signage, road layout, worn-out road marks, etc
lead to drivers unfamiliar with those roads being caught out and fined unfairly.

6.4 The concerns raised by the RAC are echoed by the AA. In their communications with the
spotlight review, the AA highlighted previous examples of incorrect or inconsistent
enforcement of the rules. Failure to understand how yellow box junctions work was of
concern, with examples given below. Appendix 3 to this report gives further detail on
the specific appeals submitted as evidence.
Incorrect Enforcement of Yellow Box Junctions

Page 20

8

Agenda Item 9
6.5 As seen above, this yellow box junction is directly before a pedestrian crossing. This is
Putney High Street in London. The AA provided three instances where vehicles had been
incorrectly issued a PCN for stopping inside this yellow box. All three cases were
successful appeals, where the motorists in question had stopped to allow a pedestrian
to cross the road and avoid hitting them. This is not in contravention of the rules, which
state that a PCN can only be issued if a car stops inside a yellow box because of another
stationery vehicle. In one example provided, the adjudicator responsible for reviewing
the appeal was “surprised…that the council contested this appeal” despite clear footage
showing no wrongdoing.
6.6 The AA also referenced a successful appeal in another area of London (Horns Road,
Redbridge) in which a motorist was issued a PCN for stopping in a yellow box junction.
However, CCTV evidence clearly showed their right indicator was on, and to stop in a
yellow box junction when waiting to turn right and your path is blocked by incoming
traffic does not constitute a contravention of the rules.
Other concerns
6.7 Other concerns surrounding the inconsistent and incorrect enforcement of the rules
highlighted by the AA are as follows:
➢ Bus lanes and bus gates. Bad signage and layout, leading to persistent fining even
though it was clear something was wrong. Examples: TfL/numerous London
boroughs, and other councils including Preston, Newcastle and Glasgow.
➢ Prohibited turns. There are recent cases in London where the Traffic Tribunal has
ruled in favour of multiple appeals at each location due to poor signage.
➢ Restricted access to roads and neighbourhoods. Once again poor or unlit signage.
Example: Fishers Lane, Ealing, where there were 22 successful appeals between
March and October 2021.
➢ Cycle lanes that cut across access to properties and parking. Crossing them for
legitimate reasons then becomes a question of whether a PCN is justified.
Transparency and the appeals system
6.8 The AA had concerns surrounding the appeal system. Their concerns included:
➢ “a worrying occurrence of enforcement flaws” which trapped motorists “even after
an adjudicator has highlighted and condemned those failings”.
➢ inadequate pressure for “councils to quality control their enforcement”.
➢ that the system was not transparent and that drivers were unable “to see whether
others in the same circumstances [had] successfully appealed”. The AA believed that

Page 21

9

Agenda Item 9
a greater number of successful complaints would incentivise the necessary
improvements to enforcement.
➢ these issues can culminate to create “fines hotspots” which are unfair to motorists
and reflect poor enforcement. “If a location is producing multiple PCNs each day,
each offence in theory holds up the traffic, a bus or creates a danger.”
6.9 The AA cited the examples of successful appeals presented to the spotlight review, and
many more that they were aware of, to suggest that it seems like many councils should
be aware of these problems and the resulting hotspots but opt not to rectify them,
instead exploiting the lack of transparency to generate income.
6.10

In addition, the AA provided us with results from a survey that they had run, asking the
question ‘Which if any of the following best describes the outcome of your most recent
Penalty Charge Notice (PCN)?’ They provided 10 options. Of note is that across UK and
in London over one-quarter of motorists who received a PCN and paid the reduced fine
did not feel that they were in the wrong but paid due to convenience or to prevent the
financial pressures resulting from paying the full fine.

6.11 The AA expressed the concern that because of this pressure, many low-income
recipients of PCNs had to pay fines equivalent to a day’s wage and give up the right of
appeal. Research among AA members showed “that at least a quarter didn’t challenge a
PCN even though they felt they hadn’t committed an offence”. Out of those that
contacted the council to dispute their PCN (without going to an appeals tribunal), the
majority did not have their PCN cancelled.

Page 22

10

Agenda Item 9

6.12 Given the AA’s concerns about transparency of the appeals system, and the
examples provided regarding incorrect enforcement that were only overturned at
appeal, the importance of correctly and consistently enforcing contraventions at the
first instance is highlighted.

7. Conclusion
The spotlight review believes that there is a clear opportunity to improve flow and safety
on urban roads throughout the County. It appears likely that many other local authorities
will be taking on responsibility for enforcing moving traffic offences. However, this
additional enforcement activity should be pursued with a common-sense approach that
does not lead to disproportionate burden on motorists for minor misdemeanours. The
spotlight review is mindful that with an increase in the cost of living additional charges will
not be welcomed. However, there is an anticipated real benefit to keep traffic moving as
well as to encourage safe driving. The spotlight review therefore recommends that the
Council do take on these new powers, but do so in line with all of the recommendations in
this paper.

Page 23

11

Agenda Item 9
8. Sources of evidence
The Task Group heard testimony from the following witnesses and would like to
express sincere thanks to the following people for their contribution and the
information shared:

Ian James
Christopher Rook
Superintendent Adrian
Leisk
Richard Kent-Woolsey

Traffic Management Group Manager) Devon County
Council
Traffic Management Team Manager, Devon County
Council
Roads Policing Strategic Lead, Devon and Cornwall
Police

David Barry

Roads Policing Strategic Lead, Devon and Cornwall
Police
Transport for London (TfL)

Luke Bodset

AA, via Email

Bibliography
Allan, M., ‘Drivers to face new £70 traffic fines as councils handed new powers,’ NationalWorld, 22nd
June 2021
https://www.nationalworld.com/lifestyle/cars/drivers-to-face-new-ps70-traffic-fines-as-councilshanded-new-powers-3281428
Aucock, R., ‘Yellow box junctions: how much is the fine and how can I avoid a penalty?’ Motoring
Research, 28th April 2021
How to avoid a penalty at yellow box junctions (motoringresearch.com)
Bodset, L., ‘Council enforcement of MTOs - Evidence Gathering,’ email communication, received by
Fred Whitehouse, 1st June 2022
Harrison, R., ‘MTO Cardiff,’ email communication, received by Fred Whitehouse, 20th May 2022
RAC, ‘Authorities in London and Cardiff rake in £58.2m from drivers committing moving traffic
offences in just one year,’ Press Release, 19th August 2020
Authorities in London and Cardiff rake in £58.2m from drivers committing moving traffic offences in
just one year | The RAC Media Centre
RAC, ‘RAC calls on Government to update guidance on yellow box junctions to avoid councils
wrongly issuing fines,’ Press Release, 1st April 2022
RAC calls on Government to update guidance on yellow box junctions to avoid councils wrongly
issuing fines | The RAC Media Centre
Redfern, J., ‘Drivers face being wrongly fined in yellow box junctions, says RAC,’ MSN, 26th April 2022
Drivers face being wrongly fined in yellow box junctions, says RAC (msn.com)

Page 24

12

Agenda Item 9
Tyers, R., ‘Councils in England to get new powers over traffic offences,’ House of Commons Library,
25th May 2022
Councils in England to get new powers over traffic offences (parliament.uk)
Wright, S., ‘Enforcing yellow box junction rules fairly: the dangers facing councils and drivers,’ RAC,
28th March 2022

Enforcing yellow box junction rules fairly | RAC Drive

9. Spotlight Review Membership
The Group was chaired by Councillor Alistair Dewhirst and membership was as follows:

Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services
Councillor Alistair Dewhirst (Chair)

Councillor Colin Slade

Councillor Phil Bullivant

Councillor Jeffrey Wilton-Love

Councillor Jeff Trail

Councillor Marcus Hartnell

Councillor Marina Asvachin

Councillor Richard Chesterton

Councillor Yvonne Atkinsons
Councillor Stuart Hughes, as Cabinet Member was in attendance.

10. Contact
For all enquiries about this report or its contents please contact
Camilla de Bernhardt Lane, Head of Scrutiny Cam.debernhardtlane@devon.gov.uk

Page 25

13

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1: Local Authorities Response
Norfolk
The County Council has put forward a public consultation regarding the introduction of
camera monitoring technology across several sites. “Chance to have your say on
enforcement of traffic offences” (Norfolk County Council, 2022)
Aims of the project
-Preventing vehicles from using pedestrian and cycle zones.
-Ban access to certain roads for vehicles during times of high congestion
-Addition of cameras to bus-lanes to prevent cars from blocking, delaying buses or
violating the bus lane.
The following extract is taken directly from their website to get an understanding of their
approach.
“The elimination and reduction of traffic congestion on surrounding roads are the goals of
the Council. The new changes appear to be predominately based on how the system has
already worked across London”.
Despite the project requiring initial funding Norfolk Council state that this system would
inevitably be functioning with a “self-sustaining financial” model. The potential issues
surrounding the financial model are outlined in the Media Coverage and Reports section
provided at the following web address: https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/news/2022/03/chance-tohave-your-say-on-enforcement-of-traffic-offences

Hampshire
The county council of Hampshire held a public consultation between 14th of February and
27th of March. They received 400 separate comments regarding the introduction of
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) technology.

Kent
Kent County Council has stated that they are planning on using the new powers to improve
safety and congestion. Their intention is to deploy Automatic Number Plate Recognition
(ANPR) technology to identify drivers that break laws.
KCC have sought a public consultation in the format of a questionnaire from the 15th of
March to the 9th of May. They have yet to publish their Consultation report. (Kent County
Council, 2022)

Page 26

14

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2: MTO Restrictions which will be possible:

Page 27

15

Agenda Item 9

Page 28

16

Agenda Item 9

Page 29

17

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3: Selection of Evidence from AA correspondence
Successful Appeals
Putney High Street
·

“The appellant submits that he stopped in the box to avoid blocking a pedestrian
crossing pedestrians being about to cross. The council's video footage of this incident,
which I have viewed, supports the appellant's account of it. This contravention occurs
when a vehicle having entered a box junction has to stop in or within it due to the
presence of stationery vehicles. I am satisfied on this footage that the appellant's
vehicle did not stop in this box due to the presence of stationery vehicles and I find that
the contravention did not occur. I am surprised on this footage that the council
contested this appeal.” Jan 2019. Case reference 2180491381.

· “The CCTV showed that the Appellant entered the box junction when her exit lane was
not clear. She stopped with the rear of the vehicle still in the junction. One element of
the contravention is that the vehicle stopped because of the presence of stationary
vehicles. I am satisfied that the gap between the preceding vehicle and the box junction
was long enough to accommodate the Appellant's vehicle. She had stopped so that she
did not obstruct the pedestrian crossing. She did not stop because of the presence of
stationary vehicles. I am not satisfied that the contravention occurred. I allow the
appeal.” Apr 2019. Case reference 2190088487
· “The Appellant’s case is essentially that he stopped within the junction to give way to
pedestrians at a pedestrian crossing. The CCTV evidence shows that this is indeed the
case. It is not a contravention merely to stop in a box junction. The Council has to prove
that the vehicle had to stop as a result of the presence of a stationary vehicle - which is
plainly not the case here. The Council from its case summary appears to have issued the
PCN on the basis that even if the vehicle had not stopped for the pedestrians it would
have been unable to clear the junction. However this is not only speculative (- if the
Appellant drove every slowly he might not have had to stop) but is in any event wholly
irrelevant. The Council’s case stands or falls on what actually occurred and the reason
for the vehicle being stationary at that point, not what might or might not have
occurred in the future. One look at the CCTV in this case should have alerted to the
Council to the fact that a contravention was not made out, and the PCN should never
have been issued. The Appeal is allowed.” Feb 2019. Case reference 2190005832
Horns Road, Redbridge
· “The images clearly show that the vehicle did enter this box junction marking when the
bus ahead was still in it. However, the images also show the Appellant’s vehicle had its
right indicator activated and that there were a number of vehicle travelling in the
opposite direction. As the Appellant’s vehicle starts to move to the right the cctv images
stop. The prohibition does not apply to a person who (a) causes a vehicle to enter the
box junction for the purpose of turning right; and (b) stops the vehicle within the box
junction for so long as the vehicle is prevented from completing the right turn by an
oncoming vehicle or other vehicle which is stationary whilst waiting to complete a right
turn.” Dec 2019. Case reference 2190443272

Page 30

18

Agenda Item 9
Responses to the AA survey question: Which if any of the following best describes
the outcome of your most recent Penalty Charge Notice (PCN)?
Answer

Across the
UK
I paid quickly because I accepted that I was in the wrong 45%
I didn't think I was in the wrong but paid quickly because 12%
the full penalty would have left me in financial difficulty
I would have liked to pay quickly but didn't see the
1%
notice in time and missed the deadline
I didn't think I was in the wrong but paying promptly was 14%
the easiest thing to do
I ignored the initial notice and ended up paying the full
<1%
penalty
I contacted the council, explained the circumstances
5%
and the penalty charge was cancelled
I contacted the council, explained the circumstances but 11%
it refused to cancel the penalty charge
I appealed the penalty to a tribunal and won
1%
I appealed the penalty to a tribunal but lost
1%
Other or don't know
7%

Page 31

In London
43%
10%
1%
17%
<1%
4%
15%
2%
2%
5%

19

Agenda Item 10
Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny

Report of the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services
Climate Change Standing Overview Group of 6 July 2022
1. Introduction
The Standing Overview Group of the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory
Services Scrutiny Committee meets regularly as an informal information
sharing and member development session where issues are presented to the
councillors to raise awareness and increase knowledge. The Standing
Overview Group considers key updates and pertinent issues from across
different services, with the aim of developing Members’ knowledge, and
bringing to the forefront any areas which may benefit from further scrutiny.
Any action points arising from the sessions are reported back to the next formal
Committee meeting.
This report outlines the topic(s) covered at the meeting of 6 July 2022, highlights
the key points raised during discussion and details any agreed actions.
2. Recommendation(s)
The Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee
accepts this report as an accurate record of the meeting and makes the
following recommendations to Cabinet, namely that:
(a) the draft 2030 Net-zero Carbon Supply Chain Strategy be commended;
(b) further options for carbon offsetting, including how the Council can work with
local research institutions to further the development of this area and increase
the variety of options available, be explored; and
(c) further clarity on how the strategy will be resourced by indicating an
approximate FTE (Full Time Equivalent) value to achieve these targets.
3. Attendance
Councillors: A Dewhirst (Chair), C Slade (Vice Chair), P Bullivant, Y Atkinson,
M Asvachin
Apologies: M Hartnell
Cabinet Member: Andrea Davis (Cabinet Member for Climate Change,
Environment and Transport) (not present)
Officers: Mya McKnight (Climate Emergency Procurement Carbon Officer);
Doug Eltham (Environment and Sustainability Policy Officer)
Scrutiny Officer: Fred Whitehouse

Page 33

Agenda Item 10
Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny

4. Summary of Discussion
2030 Net-zero Carbon Supply Chain Strategy
Background
A first draft of Devon County Council’s Net-Zero Supply Chain Strategy, which
sets out the Authority’s aims to achieve net-zero in its supply chain by 2030,
was presented to the Environmental Performance Board in May 2022.
Managing supply chain emissions is a target set out in the Council’s Carbon
Reduction Plan (available here). Members of the Corporate Infrastructure and
Regulatory Services Committee were invited, via this Standing Overview
Group, to ask questions about and offer comments on the strategy. The key
aspects of the Report and Member discussion are covered below, with their
comments incorporated into the recommendations made above.
The Report
It was highlighted that the carbon emissions from the Council’s supply chain
are roughly 19 times larger than the council’s corporate footprint, making this a
key area of focus to achieve net-zero. To do this, DCC would need to reduce
significantly the emissions associated with its supply chain and offset the
remainder from 2030 onwards.
Four key areas of focus had been identified:
Carbon Data
It was explained that currently existing data on carbon emissions relating to the
Council’s supply chain were inadequate, with figures published in 2009 forming
part of the calculations. The aim is to move towards collecting raw data from
suppliers (and, where available, to use data from suppliers who currently
calculate their own emissions) to facilitate a more accurate and robust system
of measurement. This would then allow the data from these calculations to be
assigned to particular contracts, offering a clearer view of the supply chain’s
carbon emissions, where improvements can be made, and how much carbon
is required to be offset.
Procurement, Commissioning & Contract Management
These are the main ways in which the supply chain is interacted with. Key
elements under this focus area included the encouragement of a circular
economy to reduce emissions and to develop carbon KPIs to measure
progress. Incorporating key net-zero principles into contracts was also
highlighted as a large focus, such as specifying low-energy goods (for instance,
warm asphalt as opposed to the higher-energy hot-mix), mandatory carbon
reduction and reporting requirements and an escalation process for suppliers
who do not meet targets.

Page 34

Agenda Item 10
Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny

Supporting Suppliers
Ensuring Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) receive support and
encouragement to involve them in the journey towards net-zero was highlighted
as key under this priority. This was in addition to supporting all suppliers in
calculating their emissions, as well as offering advice and resources to help
them reduce their emissions (where some suppliers may not have the expertise
required).
Supporting DCC Staff
This focus area included upskilling staff to ensure confidence across DCC in
instilling a carbon reduction ethos in the Council’s procurement and
commissioning activity.
Member discussion
Given the importance of carbon offsetting in the overall plan to reach net-zero,
including for Devon’s supply chain, discussion centred heavily around this,
expressing the need to explore all options for carbon offsetting. This included
particular focus on seagrass, which Councillors expressed should be an area
of focus give that it seemed an under-utilised and very efficient form of carbon
sequestration. Officers did explain that currently the verification processes that
allow for carbon offsetting to be officially measured and accounted for only
existed for woodland and peatland, necessitating focus on these areas for the
present and immediate future. The Council had faced further challenges due to
landowners not selling woodland for carbon offsetting, anticipating greater
future profit. There was work ongoing, however, in other areas (such as the
operation of a seaweed farm in North Devon in anticipation of said verification
processes for seaweed), and that the Council is open to other forms of carbon
sequestration that could help the Authority meet its net-zero targets.
Members were also directed towards a report that had been done in advance
of the Devon Carbon Plan on the potential role of carbon offsetting, which would
provide further context and information regarding the Council’s plans and
options. This is available here.
Councillor concerns surrounding carbon offsetting, and considerations for
future options, are reflected in recommendation (b).
Extensive discussion was also had about how this plan would be resourced.
Councillors widely commended the report and its ambition but were concerned
about the realism of achieving the goals given contemporaneous budget and
staffing concerns across many areas of the Council. It was, however, explained
to Members that much of the work outlined in the policy was already underway,
that two full-time staff members were working on this alongside input from other
service areas who had approached the Environment team for advice on how
they could embed environmentally friendly practices into their own workstreams
and assist in the Council’s journey towards net-zero. Additionally, given the
nature of the supply chain and many of the Council’s suppliers being large

Page 35

Agenda Item 10
Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny

companies, much of the work – such as calculation on carbon emissions –
would not need to strictly be carried out by DCC staff, but in-house by the
suppliers. Councillor concern around this, and the request for further clarity
around resourcing, are reflected in recommendation (c).
Members also requested that a senior member of Procurement from Devon
County Council should attend the next meeting of the Corporate Infrastructure
and Regulatory Services Committee, with a view to ensuring that this policy is
implemented top-down with the commitment of leadership.
Councillor A Dewhirst
Chair, Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee
Electoral Divisions: All
Contact for Enquiries: Fred Whitehouse, fred.whitehouse@devon.gov.uk
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Nil
The meeting began at 2.01pm and ended at 3.10pm.

Page 36

Agenda Item 12
Corporate, Infrastructure and
Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee
15 September 2022
CUSTOMER FEEDBACK Q1 2022-23 (APRIL TO JUNE 2022)
Report of the Head of Digital Transformation and Business Support
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Committee before taking effect.

Recommendation: that the Committee note the content of the Report and provide comment on
the level of feedback.
1. Customers are right at the heart of everything we do, and we welcome their feedback. This helps us to
improve our services and to make sure we treat everyone fairly. Sometimes things do go wrong. If this
happens, we invite customers to tell us so that we can try and put it right and stop it happening to others.
2. The Customer Relations Team is a central function that handles all formal customer feedback to ensure
complaints, MP and Councillor enquiries, representations (a comment or concern that is not a complaint)
and compliments are dealt with appropriately. The Local Government Act 1972 requires Local Authorities
to have a mechanism for dealing with complaints that fall outside those covered by statutory legislation. To
enable us to do this effectively the Council runs a Corporate complaint procedure and this, alongside
details of the Statutory complaint procedures, can be found here: complaint and other feedback
procedures.
3. Any complainant that has exhausted the Council’s complaint procedures has the right to approach the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) who may choose to investigate their complaint.
Support from the LGSCO to help councillors ask questions to scrutinise their local services is available here.
Key Messages
•

•

•
•
•

The majority of complaints received were about Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and
Growth and the main teams complained about were the Neighbourhood and Traffic Management
Groups. The main activities complained about in relation to those teams were a member of staff’s
action or behaviour, and the road condition in relation to potholes and road surfaces.
The second highest number of complaints received were about Children & Young People’s Futures
and the main teams complained about were Children & Families and SEN 0-25. The main activities
complained about in relation to those teams were the quality of or delays in providing education
provision for children with SEN and the quality or appropriateness of child in need plans.
The most prevalent root causes across all services in Q1 of 2022-23 were the quality of service
provided (uphold rate 37%), an inappropriate action or service (uphold rate 46%), and a delay in
providing a service (uphold rate 33%).
Overall, response rates for Stage 1 complaints require significant improvement, with only 26%
responded to in time throughout the quarter.
The number of Stage 2 complaint requests for Children’s Social Care has increased this quarter; on
average there were 10 Stage 2 requests received each quarter through 2021-22, with a total of 38

Page 37

Agenda Item 12
•

•

received for the whole year), however there have already been 16 Stage 2 requests received in Q1
of 22-23, and this is only set to increase. As a result, the number of Stage 3 Review Panel Hearings is
likely to also increase.
11 of the 33 complaints investigated by the LGSCO during Q1 of 22-23 were upheld (33%), most
with maladministration and injustice, one with maladministration but no injustice, and one with
maladministration and injustice but no further action required as a satisfactory remedy was already
provided by the service. This compares to 24 of 40 complaints investigated by the LGSCO during Q4
of 2021-22 being upheld (60%), so it is reassuring that the uphold rate is beginning to lower.
The LGSCO complaints that were upheld were mainly in relation to SEND; the complaint summaries,
findings and agreed recommendations are included in the appendices of this report. The council
has complied with the recommendations and findings for all complaints. The Council has paid out
£7,163 in financial remedies as a result of LGSCO complaint investigations concluded in Q1 2022-23,
and waived a bill for care of £7,651.77. Please note that all LGSCO decisions can be located on their
website www.lgo.org.uk/decisions by entering the LGSCO reference number from the appendix;
alternatively you can review the interactive map for Devon County Council here:
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/devon-county-council/statistics

Matthew Jones
Head of Service
[Electoral Divisions: All]
Cabinet Member for Organisational Development, Workforce & Digital Transformation, Councillor
Andrew Saywell
Matthew Jones, Head of Service
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Contact for Enquiries: Helen Wyatt, Customer Relations Manager
Tel No: 01392 383703
BACKGROUND PAPER
Nil

DATE

FILE REFERENCE

Page 38

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1 – Customer Feedback trend data and complaint themes.
Customer feedback received 2022-23

Q1

Q2

Complaints - local

353

353

Complaints - escalated

32

32

Complaints - Ombudsman

22

22

MP Enquiries

132

132

Representations

25

25

Total

564

0

Q3

Q4

0

Stage 1 complaints received 2022-23

Q1

Children and Young People's Futures
Integrated Adult Social Care
Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and Growth
Legal and Democratic Services
Finance and Public Value
Public Health, Communities & Citizen Engagement
Digital Transformation & Business Support

123
47
165
5
1
8
4

Grand Total

353

YTD

0

564
Q2

Q3

0

0

No. responded to

Children and Young People's Futures
Integrated Adult Social Care
Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and Growth
Legal and Democratic Services
Finance and Public Value
Public Health, Communities & Citizen Engagement
Digital Transformation & Business Support

111
35
176
5
0
7
5

Grand Total

339

% Upheld

Stage 1 complaint outcomes 2022-23

50%
34%
12%
60%
n/a
71%
80%
29%

111
35
176
5
0
7
5

Grand Total

339

Page 39

% in time

No. responded to

Q1

Children and Young People's Futures
Integrated Adult Social Care
Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and Growth
Legal and Democratic Services
Finance and Public Value
Public Health, Communities & Citizen Engagement
Digital Transformation & Business Support

YTD

123
47
165
5
1
8
4

Q1

Stage 1 complaint response times 2022-23

Q4

53%
51%
85%
20%
n/a
100%
60%
26%

0

353

Agenda Item 12
% Upheld

No. of issues

Most common complaint issues & % upheld 2022-23

Page 40

100%
100%
0%
0%
25%
17%
20%
100%
50%
50%
100%
0%
0%
100%

2

6
2

1

2
1

1
13 5

1
4

1
1
10 1

Grand Total

37%
46%
33%

Upheld - Maladministration but no injustice

2

16%
6%
11%

Upheld - Maladministration and injustice

4
2
7

54%
63%
72%

Not upheld - no maladministration or injustice

Children and Young People's Futures
Integrated Adult Social Care
Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and Growth
Legal and Democratic Services
Finance and Public Value
Public Health, Communities & Citizen Engagement
Digital Transformation & Business Support
Grand Total

Closed after initial enquiries - out of jurisdiction

LGSCO complaint outcomes Q1 2022-23

Closed after initial enquiries - No further action

Children and Young People's Futures
Inappropriate action or service
63
Quality of service provided
49
Poor communication (to customer)
25
Climate Change, Environment, Connectivity and Growth
Quality of service provided
64
Delay in providing service
31
Attitude/rudeness/inappropriate comments
28
Digital Transformation & Business Support
Quality of service provided
2
Information Security alert
1
Dispute of records/documentation
1
Inappropriate action or service
1
Integrated Adult Social Care
Quality of service provided
16
Poor communication (to customer)
6
Inappropriate activity
5
Legal and Democratic Services
Quality of service provided
3
Inappropriate action or service
2
Poor communication (with customer)
2
Public Health, Communities & Citizen Engagement
Objecting to intended/future service offered
4
Quality of service provided
1
Delay in providing service
1
Inappropriate action or service
1
All Services
Quality of service provided
135
Inappropriate action or service
82
Delay in providing service
54

13
6
9
0
2
1
2
33

Agenda Item 12

Page 41

Service
LGSCO Ref/DCC Ref
Client Finance
21009828/11554932
Services/Integrated
Adult Social Care

Page 42

Integrated Adult
Social Care –
Community Health
and Social Care

21007609/12880056

Complaint summary & findings
Mr X complained about how the Council communicated
with him about the costs of care for his late wife Mrs X. Mr X
said he received a large, unexpected bill which caused him a
great deal of stress and the Council did not answer his
questions about this. The LGSCO found fault with how the
Council communicated with Mr X and asked the Council to
apologise, waive the fees, and review processes.

Recommendations
• Apologise for its failure to keep Mr
X properly updated about the
financial assessments and for the
poor communication throughout.
• Write to Mr X to confirm it has
waived the £7,651.77 outstanding
care bill.
• Complete its learning event to
identify improvements to
processes in relation to
care home fees and provide the
Ombudsman with a written
summary of the outcome.
Ms X complained about the care her late mother, Mrs Y,
• Apologise to Ms X for the distress
received at the Council commissioned Care Home. The Care
and frustration the matter caused
Provider was at fault. There were errors in how staff at its Care
her;
Home communicated information about Mrs Y’s care amongst
• Make a symbolic payment of £150
each other and with other healthcare professionals and with
to Ms X to acknowledge the
how staff recorded information about her care. A safeguarding
distress, uncertainty and
investigation identified faults by the Care Home. The Care
frustration caused by the faults
Provider recognised the faults and put measures in place to
identified in relation to her
improve its service.
mother’s care
• Ensure that staff at the Care Home
will record conversations they have
had with healthcare professionals
in relation to a resident’s care.
• Ensure there is good
communication amongst staff
about the care of the residents and
that they are aware of recent
changes to their care such as
referrals being made to other

Agenda Item 12

Appendix 2 – LGSCO complaint summaries, findings and recommendations

•

•

Page 43

Integrated Adult
Social Care – Social
Care Reablement

20014267/12932305

Children & Young
People's Futures –
Children & Families

21004445/11450716

12793744/21005587

The Council is at fault for delaying consideration of this
complaint under the children’s statutory complaints
procedure. The Council has agreed to issue its stage two
response and make a payment to the complainant for the time

N/A

•

•
•

•
•

Apologise to Miss X, including a
promise to deal with her complaint
promptly now the LADO process is
complete.
Pay Miss X £150 as a symbolic
payment to reflect the uncertainty.
Remind relevant staff of the need
to inform complainants of their
right to resubmit their complaint
after concurrent investigations
have ended.
Issue its stage two response to Ms
X;
Offer to make a payment of £300
to Ms X to remedy the time and

Agenda Item 12

Children & Young
People's Futures Disabled Children's
Service

The Council already upheld some of Mr Z’s complaints about
poor environmental standards at a care home it funded. It
took appropriate action to remedy the injustice and so we
made no further recommendations. There was no evidence
Mr Y was unkempt and no evidence the family were
misinformed about care being free. So we
did not uphold these complaints.
Miss X complained the Council failed to respond to her
concerns about the care of her two children, who were in
foster care. We found the Council at fault for failing to tell
Miss X she could return to the complaints process after
concurrent investigations were complete. We recommended
the Council provide an apology and payment to Miss X and act
to prevent recurrence.

healthcare services.
Ensure staff are aware when a
follow-up is required with other
healthcare services such as the
District Nurse Teams and GP’s,
they raise this with the
management team and document
the necessary information.
Ensure information staff have
recorded on the system is
monitored and information in
relation to skin tears and wounds is
updated regularly.

Children & Young
People's Futures SEN 0-25

21003770/11072804

Mrs D complained the Council failed to complete her
daughter’s Education, Health and Care needs assessment as
directed by the SEND Tribunal, and within the statutory
timescales. As a result, Mrs D said she experienced distress
and her daughter did not get the support she needed. We
found the Council at fault for causing delays and for seeking an
unnecessary assessment. It should apologise to Mrs D and
make payment to acknowledge the injustice this caused.

•
•

•

Page 44

•

•

•

Children & Young
People's Futures SEN 0-25

21006860/11427784

Mr X complained the Council failed to ensure his son (Y)
received an adequate fulltime education from September
2020 as set out in his EHC Plan. He also said Y was wrongly
excluded from accessing his designated safe space within his
school. The Council said some provision was provided, but

•

trouble she has gone to in pursuing
her complaint, and to reflect the
Council’s delay in dealing with it.
apologise in writing to Mrs D and
Child X;
pay Mrs D £400 to acknowledge
the distress and uncertainty she
and Child X experienced as a result
of the Council’s failure to follow
the statutory process for EHC
needs assessment and errors;
pay Mrs D £100, to use as she sees
fit for Child X’s benefit, to
acknowledge Child X’s loss of some
community support provision;
pay Mrs D a further £100 for the
time and trouble she had to bring
her concerns to the Council’s and
Ombudsman’s attention.
remind its staff of the importance
of adhering to the process and
statutory timescales for EHC needs
assessments; and
remind its staff to follow the SEND
Tribunal Orders, including in cases
where the Council has agreed for
the Tribunal to provide
recommendations in areas outside
SEN, unless it can show good
reasons for not doing so.
apologise in writing to Mr X, and
pay him £250 to acknowledge the
distress he, and his family,
experienced as a result of the
Council’s failure to ensure his son’s

Agenda Item 12

and trouble its delay has caused.

agreed it failed to ensure Y received all the agreed provision. It
apologised and made payment to Mr X. It did not agree Y had
been discriminated against. We found the Council had
considered its equality duty, but its faults also caused Mr
X and his family distress. The Council agreed to apologise and
make payment to acknowledge the injustice caused.

Page 45

21010444/ 11467448

Mrs B says the Council wrongly reinstated a company on
its Buying with Confidence scheme when it had not completed
any remedial works to her property or dealt with her
complaint. The Council’s communications with Mrs B were not
clear about what it would take into account when carrying out
a re-audit and the re-audit paperwork was not completed
properly. That did not affect the decision to reinstate the
company on the scheme. An apology, payment to Mrs B and
procedural changes are a satisfactory remedy.

Children & Young
People's Futures –

21006646/11505308

Ms B and Mr C complained the Council failed to
adequately assess and then meet their son’s special

Agenda Item 12

Public Health,
Communities &
Citizen
Engagement Trading Standards

special educational needs were
delivered as set out in his EHC
Plan;
• pay Mr X a further £150 to
acknowledge the unnecessary time
and trouble he had to bring his
concerns to the Council’s
attention.
• Remind its staff to work jointly
with parents, schools, and other
professionals to ensure children’s
EHC Plan provision is delivered as
set out in the statutory guidance
and its internal procedures. In
particular, when it receives
concerns about a school’s failure to
provide the special educational
needs provision of a child’s EHC
Plan.
• Apologise to Mrs B;
• Pay Mrs B £250.
• Draw up guidance for officers
completing re-audits triggered by
negative customer reviews or
complaints which should include
matters which should be taken into
account during a re-audit,
specifically referring to any issues
identified as part of the consumer
review/complaint, clear
communications with consumers
about the re-audit process, and
completion of paperwork.
Within a month of the final decision the
Council will reimburse Ms B and Mr C for

educational needs and as a result he missed out on
appropriate education in a school for almost two years. There
was fault which caused injustice. We make recommendations
at the end of this statement for how the
Council can remedy this injustice.

Page 46

Children & Young
People's Futures Admissions and
Transport

21011732/12792644

Children & Young
People's Futures –
SEN 0-25

20009828/9589748

Ms C complained the Council wrongly decided not to fund
transport to school for her children. She said that as a result
she had to walk them to school which had an adverse impact
on her health. And when that was no longer possible the
children were unable to attend school. There was fault by the
Council which caused injustice to Ms C. The Council will make
a payment to her in recognition of the fault and impact on her
and her children.
The Council was at fault when it failed to consult Mr and
Mrs X or Miss Y about the changes it was planning to make to
her Education, Health and Care Plan. This caused Mr and Mrs
X avoidable distress and frustration. The Council agreed to
make the recommendations we set out to remedy the
injustice its actions caused to Mr and Mrs X.

five weeks of the fees they paid for X
attending school G for three days a week.
And for the period after the Council had
agreed X should attend school G before it
took over the fees. It will also make a
payment to reflect the transport costs for
the same period. And it should pay an
additional £400 as explained in paragraph
24. It will also apologise to Ms B and Mr C
for the faults found. The Council should
also provide evidence to us to show what
action it has taken to ensure that its
complaint process is not wrongly
constrained in its application
(A total payment of £4,613).
Pay Ms C £500.

Pay Mr and Mrs X £200 to recognise the
distress the Council’s fault has caused the
family

Agenda Item 12

SEN 0-25

Agenda Item 12

Page 47

